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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

UNIFIED GLOBAL GROUP, LLC, a limited 
liability company; 

ARM WNY, LLC, also d/b/a Accredited 
Receivables Management, a limited liability 
company; 

AUDUBON FINANCIAL BUREAU LLC, also 
d/b/a AFB, a limited liability company; 

DOMENICO D'ANGELO, alk/a Dominick 
D'Angelo, in his individual and corporate 
capacity; and 

ANTHONY COPPOLA, in his individual and 
corporate capacity, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 15 cv 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND OTHER 
EQUITABLE RELIEF 



Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), for its Complaint alleges: 

1. The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act 

("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and Section 814 of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 

("FDCP A"), 15 U.S.C. § 1692/, to obtain temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive 

relief, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement 

ofill-gotten monies, the appointment of a receiver, and other equitable relieffor Defendants' acts 

or practices in violation of Section 5(a) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and the FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p, in connection with Defendants' deceptive, abusive, and unfair debt 

collection practices. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 

1345, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 53(b), and 1692·/. 

3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1), (b)(2), (c)(l), (c)(2), and 

(d), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States 



appropriate in 

in 



to this Complaint, Audubon Financial Bureau, acting alone or in concert with others, has 

transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

10. Defendant Domenico D'Angelo, also known as Dominick D'Angelo, is or has been the 

managing member and owner of Unified Global Group, a member and manager of ARM WNY, 

and the chief executive officer and managing member of Audubon. He also is or has been a 

signatory to the bank accounts of Unified Global Group, ARM WNY, and Audubon. At times 

material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed, 

controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices of Defendants, 

including the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. Defendant D'Angelo resides in this 

district and, in connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in 

this district and throughout the United States. 

11. Defendant Anthony Coppola is or has been the chief executive officer and a managing 

member of ARM WNY. He also is or has been an owner and a signatory to the bank accounts 

of ARM WNY and Audubon. At times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert 

with others, he has fonnulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated 

in the acts and practices of Defendants, including the acts and practices set forth in this 

Complaint. Defendant Coppola resides in this district and, in connection with the matters 

alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United 

States. 

12. Defendants are "debt collectors" as defined in Section 803(6) ofthe FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692a(6). 
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COMMERCE 

13. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial course 

of trade in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 44. 

DEFENDANTS' ILLEGAL COLLECTION PRACTICES 

14. Since at least March 2010, and continuing thereafter, Defendants have used deception 

and threats to extract money from consumers for purported debts. Using telephone calls, text 

messages to mobile phones, and electronic and United States mail, Defendants have repeatedly: 

(1) 



Defendants' False Threats of Arrest or Other Legal Consequences Against Consumers 



Defendants' Deceptive Text Messages to Consumers 

22. In numerous instances, Defendants also have sent deceptive and alarming text messages 

to consumers' mobile telephones to trick them into contacting Defendants' collectors. The 

messages typically have falsely represented that the consumer has reached and, often, breached, 

an agreement with Defendants to pay them. For example, one consumer received the following 

series of text messages: 

YOUR PAYMENT DECLINED WITH CARD ****-****-****-5463 ... CALL 
866.256.2117 IMMEDIATELY 

YOUR PAYMENT FOR $[AMOUNT] IS SCHEDULED FOR [DATE]. CALL 
866.257.2117 WITH ANY QUESTIONS OR CONCERNS 

YOUR PAYMENT OF $[AMOUNT] IS SCHEDULED FOR [DATE]. CALL 
866.257.2117 IF YOU WANT TO MAKE YOUR PAYMENT EARLY 

23. Defendants have sent text messages like the ones described above in Paragraph 22 to 

consumers who have not scheduled payments or authorized Defendants to debit their accounts, 

and, in many instances, never previously have received any communication from Defendants. 

24. In many instances, Defendants' text messages not only have contained deceptive content, 

but also have omitted a statutorily-required disclosure that the sender is a debt collector and that 

any infonnation obtained as a result of the communication will be used to collect the consumer's 

purported debt. 

Defendants' Unlawful Contacts with Third Parties 

25. In numerous instances, Defendants have communicated with consumers' employers, 

co-workers, family members, or other third parties to apply pressure and create a sense of 

urgency so the consumer or third party will pa(but )Tj
005m
(of Tj
0.0201 Tc 2.1 )Tj
0e 



place of abode, telephone number, or place or employment; (2) have disclosed the consumer's 

purported debt to the third party; or (3) have represented to the third party that Defendants will 

commence legal action-including arrest-against the putative debtor if the debt is not paid. 

Defendants' Failure to Provide Statutorily-Required 
Notices and Disclosures to Consumers 

26. In addition to making false threats, Defendants have failed frequently to provide 

consumers with statutorily-required disclosures in their collection calls, emails, and text 

messages, including disclosures identifying themselves as debt collectors arid stating that the 

communication is an attempt to collect a debt and that any information provided by the consumer 

will be used for that purpose. 

27. In numerous instances, Defendants also have failed to provide consumers with a 

statutorily-required notice, either orally in their initial communication with the consumer or in 

writing within five days of the initial communication, setting forth the following: (1) the 

amount of the purported debt; (2) the name of the creditor to whom the purported debt is owed; 

(3) a statement that unless the consumer disputes the debt, the debt will be assumed valid; (4) a 

statement that if the consumer disputes all or part of the debt in writing within 30 days, the debt 

collector will obtain verification of the debt and mail it to the consumer; and (5) a statement that, 

upon the consumer's written request within the 30-day period, the debt collector will provide the 

name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor. 

28. In numerous instances, Defendants have refused to provide consumers with this notice 

despite consumers' repeated requests and, as a result, consumers have been unable to exercise 

their rights under the FDCP A to make a cease-and-desist request or dispute formally the validity 

of a purported debt. 
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Defendants' Unlawful Processing Fees 

29. In 



consumer; 

b. Defendants have not had the consumer arrested or imprisoned, or had the 

consumer's wages garnished; and 

c. The consumer does not have a payment scheduled, or the consumer's payment 

has not been declined. 

35. Therefore, Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 33 of this Complaint are 

false or misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FDCPA 

36. In 1977, Congress passed the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p, which became effective 

on March 20, 1978, and has been in force since that date. Under Section 814 of the FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692/, a violation of the FDCPA is deemed an unfair or deceptive act or practice in 

violation of the FTC Act. Further, the FTC is authorized to use all of its functions and powers 

under the FTC Act to enforce compliance with the FDCP A. 

37. Throughout this Complaint, the term "consumer," as defined in Section 803(3) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S. C. 

o r  o r  this8 unthi13nce t4.157ce 

FDCPA 



39. Throughout this Complaint, the term "location information," as defined in Section 803(7) 

ofthe FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(7), means "a consumer's place of abode and his telephone 

number at such place, or his place of employment." 

COUNT II 
Unlawful Communications with Third Parties 

40. In numerous instances, in cmmection with the collection of debts, Defendants have 

communicated with persons other than the consumer, the consumer's attorney, a consumer 
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have no intention oftaking such action, in violation of Section 807(4) ofthe 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(4); 

b. Threatening to take action that Defendants do not intend to take, such as filing a 



days after the initial communication, with information about the debt and the right to dispute the 

debt, in violation of Section 809(a) ofthe FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

44. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result of 

Defendants' violations ofthe FTC Act and the FDCPA. In addition, Defendants have been 

unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive reliefby this 

Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm 

the public interest. 

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

45. Section 13(b) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and Section 814(a) ofthe FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692/(a), empower this Court to grant injunctive 



preserVe the possibility of effective final relief, including but not limited to, temporary and 

preliminary injunctions, an order freezing assets, immediate access, and appointment of a 

receiver; 

B. Enter a penn anent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act and the 

FDCP A by Defendants; 

C. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 
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